User's Guide for California PATHWAYS model version 2.4.0

Prepared for: California Air Resources Board

Prepared by: Energy and Environmental Economics, Inc. (E3)

Date: January 2017



Table of Contents

1.	Intro to California PATHWAYS	2
	1.1 Purpose	2
	1.2 Version	2
	1.3 Modeling Approach	2
2.	Installation of California PATHWAYS and Analytica	2
	2.1 Installing Analytica	2
	2.2 Recommended Versions of Analytica	3
	2.3 Licenses	3
	2.4 Downloading Analytica Free Player	4
	2.5 User Guide & Tutorials	4
3.	Running & Evaluating Pre-Defined Cases	5
	3.1 Opening CA PATHWAYS in the Free Player Version of Analytica	5
	3.2 User Interface	6
	3.3 Selecting Cases	11
	3.4 Evaluating Results	
	3.4.1 Calculating Results	
	3.4.2 Results Tables	13
	3.4.3 Results Graphs	
4.	User-Defined Cases	14
	4.1 Naming a User-Defined Case	14
	4.2 Selecting Packages	15
	4.3 Creating New Packages	16
	4.4 Evaluating Results	20

1. Intro to California PATHWAYS

1.1 Purpose

California PATHWAYS (CA PATHWAYS) was originally designed by Energy & Environmental Economics with support from Lawrence Berkeley National Labs (LBNL). This version has been updated for the California Air Resources Board (ARB). The purpose of the model is to evaluate the feasibility and cost of a range of GHG reduction cases in California within the context of complying with California's long-term greenhouse gas (GHG) emission reduction goals.

This user's guide is designed to provide a basic overview of how to open the model and run and evaluate cases using the Analytica-based California PATHWAYS tool. For a description of the model structure, please see the supporting model documentation. For more information about how to use the Analytica platform generally, please see the online tutorials developed by Lumina, as described in Section 2.5.

1.2 Version

Version 2.4.0 is the current version of the CA PATHWAYS model. This model replaces the prior version 2.3.2 which was released in February 2016.

1.3 Modeling Approach

CA PATHWAYS is a California-wide, economy-wide infrastructure-based GHG and cost analysis tool. Components include:

- Equipment stock turn-over for many sectors, with rates based on lifetime of equipment; energy use determined as service demand is met by the stock of equipment in each year
- Tracking of energy and energy infrastructure costs
- Bottom up forecast of service demand by end use, driven by variables including population, residential and commercial square footage, space heating/cooling, water heating, lighting, etc.
- Hourly electricity demand and supply detail, simulating required planning, system operation, and cost
- CA PATHWAYS is not an optimization model: the user is in full control of the outcomes.

2. Installation of California PATHWAYS and Analytica

2.1 Installing Analytica

The software platform Analytica by Lumina Systems is required to run CA PATHWAYS. Once Analytica is installed on your computer, opening CA PATHWAYS does not require any further installation steps. This

section is designed to guide the user through the download and installation of Analytica and CA PATHWAYS.

System Requirements

To use Analytica for CA PATHWAYS, the following minimum system requirements apply:

- Minimum 16GB of RAM (24 GB or more recommended)
- Windows 7 or later, dual core 64 bit processor

Running 1 case on a computer meeting the minimum requirements above can take 20-30 minutes.

In general, a faster CPU and more RAM will lead to CA PATHWAYS cases running more quickly. With the minimum requirements listed above it is not recommended to run more than one case simultaneously; on more powerful computers, running 2-3 cases simultaneously is possible. Running too many cases simultaneously or not meeting system requirements may lead to an Out of Memory error or computer crash. An example of the Out of Memory error is displayed below:



2.2 Recommended Versions of Analytica

Free 101 edition of Analytica: For users who would like to run existing cases, obtain results from the CA PATHWAYS model, or create and save new cases using the pre-existing model structure. This version of the software can be downloaded as described below.

The purchase of a Professional Analytica license is required to edit variables in the code and an Enterprise or Optimizer license in required to read and write data files into or out of the Analytica platform.

Currently, the latest version of Analytica is 4.6. Lumina issues periodic updates to its software. PATHWAYS version 2.4.0 is compatible with Analytica version 4.6. For future Analytica software updates, there are no guarantees that the new software will be compatible with PATHWAYS 2.4.0 and in some cases updates may result in new errors. It is recommended that users do not use new updates unless notified by E3 that the new update is compatible with CA PATHWAYS version 2.4.0.

2.3 Licenses

A license is needed to use Analytica. The Analytica Free Player license is automatically included when the software is downloaded, and can be used by anyone.

2.4 Downloading Analytica Free Player

Step 1. Go to Lumina's website and download the Analytica free player at: http://www.lumina.com/support/downloads/

Lumîna.	Bringing cla	rity to difficult a	lecisions			Blog Free Edition	● 中文 Search Buy
Why Analytica	Case Studies	Technology	Products	Support	Services	Company	r
Support		A	nalytica Do	wnloads			
Renew Support		Se N	elect the version of Analy	tica to download accord	ing to whether you h	ave a 32-bit or 64-bit v	ersion of the
Technical Support	100		AnaSetup.exe To d	ownload installer for Ar	ualytica 32-bit		
Analytica Downloads	1000		Ana64Setup.exe)	n download installer for	Analytica 64-bit		
Archives	the second s	I CARE T	uese installers include th	e Analytica Tutorial, Us	er Guide, and Optim	izer Guide as PDF docu	ments. The
Manual Activation	The Part Part Court	Culture Cu	rrent release is 4.5.3.				
Request Support	These fills +	Ye sh	u won't need an activati ould receive an email w	ion code for the Analytic ith a code to activate it :	a Free 101 edition. In as your purchased edi	(you have purchased A ition (Professional, Ent	nalytica, you erprise,
Find your Analytica Wiki Username		0	ptimizer). If you cannot pport@Lumina.com or	find an email with an a (+01)-650-212-1212-	ctivation code, please	contact Lumina at	
Register		Fr (F	r a floating license you t LM). Contact your IT or	vill need the name of th software license admin	e server computer ru if needed.	aning the Reprise Lice	nse Manager
		St	e below to download AD	E (Analytica Decision I	Engine).		

Click on "Ana64Setup.exe" to begin downloading the 64-bit version of Analytica. The 32-bit version of the software is not compatible with CA PATHWAYS. After downloading, double click on the file to begin the installation process. Once installed you do not need an activation key to run the free version of Analytica.

Step 2. Follow Instructions on the Lumina website to download and Install Analytica software.

2.5 User Guide & Tutorials

Details about how to use the Analytica software are available in the Analytica User Guide, available at:

http://www.lumina.com/support/downloads/

Lumina also provides tutorials in written and video versions. Tutorials contain further information about installing Analytica (pg. 4-6) and information on creating and editing models in Analytica, available at the same link as above.

3. Running & Evaluating Pre-Defined Cases

3.1 Opening CA PATHWAYS in the Free Player Version of Analytica

Once Analytica is downloaded a user can open CA PATHWAYS. Opening the model in the Free Player version of Analytica will result in the following two messages after the model loads:

Upgrade R	ecommended	x
	This model uses features only available in Analytica Enterp higher. Portions of the model using these features will not this Free 101 edition of Analytica. Unavailable functions: ReadTextFile, WriteTextFile To purchase an upgrade, follow the Buy Analytica link belo	rrise or be usable in ow.
Buy Anal More info	<u>rtica</u> ormation	ОК
Information		<u> </u>
()	This model contains 6855 user objects. You can't edit thi this Analytica Free 101 edition because the model has mo variables and other user-defined objects. You may review model in Browse mode with the Free 101 edition. To edit this model, you must upgrade to Analytica Profes higher edition, which you can do from the Buy Analytica	is model with ore than 101 w and run the ssional or a link below.
🔲 Don'i	t show me this again.	
Buy Anal	<u>vtica</u>	

Unless you wish to purchase an upgraded version of Analytica, click "OK" on both of these screens.

3.2 User Interface

The main user interface for CA PATHWAYS is pictured below. Sections of the model are highlighted with numbers, explained below.

Sector Inputs						_
Residential Sector inputs Commercial Sector inputs	Transportation Sector inputs	Ott	ner De ector li	mand hputs Energy Supply Inputs General Model Inputs Mc	del Detall	8
Case Selection				Package Creation Name Pa	ckages	
Name Cases	Edit T	able		Darkene Selection		
Select Cases for Analysis	Edit	able	1	P REARING SERVICE		
				Packages Selection	DIADIO	
Main Outputs				Electricity Outputs		
Key Outputs	(mmtCO2e, B5)	Calc	nd	Electricity Summary Metrics	Calc]"
Greenhouse Gas Emissions				Electricity Emissions - ARB Accounting (Tons CO2)) Calc).
Total Greenhouse Gas Emissions	(1002e/yr)	Calc] nit	Installed Capacity by Type (MV	6 Calc].
Combustion (Energy-Related) Greenhouse Gas Emis	sions (ICO2e/yr)	Calc	nid	Annual Generation by Type (MWh/y) Calç) -
Non Energy Related Greenhouse Gas Emissions	(tCD2e/yr)	Calc		Delivered Renewables by Technology (% of sales) Calc	5.
Delivered Energy Emissions Rate	(kg CO2a/GJ)	Calc	_ end	Flexible Resource Capacity (MV) Calc	7.
Energy GHGs by Sector and Fuel Output	(Tons CO2e)	Calc] ~ 1	Average Electricity Cost by Sector (\$/WW	Calc	1.
Energy Demand			_	Fuel Production Loads (GWI	Calc	7.
Final Energy Demand	(E-I)	Calc	had	Dispatch Summary (MV	0 Calc	1.
Final Energy Demand	(native units)	Calc	end.	Electricity Demand by Type (GW)	Calc	1.
Final Energy Demand With Biofuel Breakdown	(EJ)	Calc	tin	Pipeline Gas Outputs		
Subsector Energy Demand	(native units)	Calc	nit	Total Gas Demand	Calc	٦.
Energy Supply			-	Average Gas Rate by RR Division and Temtony (S/Iber)	Calc	₹.,
Composition of Pipeline Gas Supply by Fuel Type	(3)	Calc	1	Stock Outputs	(E. Comes	
Liquid Biofuel Composition	(%)	Celc	_ ris	Electric Analismon Market Chara	Cale	
Low-Carbon Intensity Gas Supply in Pipeline	(Mtherms)	Calc	- Nid	electric oppratice market onate (10 00 million solo	Cal	
Liquid Fuel Supply	(EJ)	Calc	tin	Clectine Appliances Stock	Care	-
Diomass Utilization (%	of US Feedstock)	Calc	rid	Light Duty vende marker Share (% of new sales	Calc	
Total Selected Biomass	(Icos)	Calc	nid	Ught Duty Venicle Slock (V of vehicle:	Calc	
Total Selected Biofuel	(GJ)	Calc	nd	madum Duty Venicle Market snave (% of new sale)	Calc	
Cost Metrics	1.0000	-	-	Madium Duty Vehicle Stock (# of vehicle)	Calc	1
Total Annual Levelzed Capital and Energy Costs	(\$(yr)	Calc	nid	Heavy Duty Vehicle Market Share (% of new sale)	Calc	1
Non Energy GHG Costs	(\$iyr)	Calc	_ rad	Heavy Duty Vehicle Stock (# of vehicle:	Calc	-
Household Costs	(\$'household/mo)	Calc	- eri	Bus Market Share (% of new sale:	Calc].
Commercial Costs (excluding trucking)	(\$/1,000sf/mc)	Celc	red	Bus Stock (# of vehicle:	() Calc	

Save Results (requires professional Analytica license)

- Export Flat Files of Results
- 6
- 1. Sector Inputs: Double clicking on any of the six input tabs displays a list of inputs and some outputs associated with that sector. From that view, further detail is available for some sectors by clicking "All [Sector] Inputs." Subtables display model inputs, which may also be

represented graphically (see Section 3.4) or as diagrams by clicking the "Diagram Window" button once viewing a subtable.

An example of this process is shown below for the Residential Sector Inputs button. Double clicking the button where the **red** box and arrow are shown displays all Residential Inputs. Clicking any of the subtable buttons (**blue** box and arrow) will display input sub-tables as shown below. Clicking any of the "Calc" buttons in **black** will run all calculations in the model necessary to provide that value, but will not run the full model.

Interest	_								
Discretionary Discretionary<	All	Rea Inpute							
Image: Control (1) Image: C	Stock Ver	aureinpch	Stock Measure Outputs						
Image: Concernes (1997) Qual: 199 (1997)	Backeda	Building Shot (RES B9)	Final Black RES BS	(Facilitatial Sq. D.) Colo	Casts REB 88	(A) Cale and Annual Center	REB 68 (3)		
www.charvew.chi.st Normal Mailed State Mailed State Normal Control State Normal Contro State Normal Control State	Reideda	Wide Harling (RER WH) SchTatte	Tend Roots RES MH	(Vener Liesters) Color -	Leveland Casts RER WH	(An and Annal Cost	RER WH (3)		
several cover (0.010) ball sold (0.010) Seree 4 Cover (0.02012) B Cover 4 Cover 4 Cover 4 Cover (0.02012) B Cover 4 Cover 4 Cover 4 Cover (0.02012) B Cover 4	Reciperate	Space Heating (SES SH) SubTable	A RIVE STR SH	(Henting Unite) Gala 🗇	Low-Red Costs RER RH	(Annual Case	RER SH (3)		
severe Revord (0015) as 1 as 2013.8 Barrer 2014(0) Control (0014) Control (0014) <t< th=""><th>Recidental</th><th>Control AC (RES CA)</th><th>Teal Study SES CA</th><th>(Certral AC Units) Gala 🐄</th><th>Low-Boot Cases RERICA</th><th>(All Call and Annual Calls</th><th>RERICA (3)</th></t<>	Recidental	Control AC (RES CA)	Teal Study SES CA	(Certral AC Units) Gala 🐄	Low-Boot Cases RERICA	(All Call and Annual Calls	RERICA (3)		
secure1.exe, 6011 10.100 1	Recidental	Boost AC (RE2 BA)	Teal Stock SES BA	(Room AC Units) CAlc. Tre	Low-Bool Cases RES RA	(All Cale and Annual Color	REARA (S)		
Inserved Carber Wanny (Proc. 5017) Statistics 14 Statistics 77 0000000000000000000000000000000000	Recidental	Lighting (RES LT)	Teal Stock STS IT	(Lamps or Dalba) Colo. 14	Leveland Costs REALT	(Ale ale and Aread Core	REALT (S)		
Image: Second Conver State State:	Residential	Clother Washing (VS SubTable	Teal Stock SES OV	(Catho Washers) Calo	Leveland Costs RFS CW	(5) Calc. we Areal Coord	RESIGN (\$		
Increase Draws (Draws (Draw	Excision	Cischer Drying (RF 2 CD) SubTable	Tital Stock STS (D	(Ciches Dryen) Calc 🗠	Lewibyd Costs RFS CD	(B) Calc. we Are al Coor	RESIDE (\$		
burners Britister (Dright State) balance (Dright State)	Residentia	Dishwashing (RTA DV) SubTable	Tital Stock SES DW	Dotworker(Cels ~	Leveland Costs RFS DW	[8] Cale we Are al Com	RESIDW (\$)		
Every Concept Trans Statistics Product Statistics Received Const Statistics	Residential	Refiguences (FC RF) SubTable	final Stock RES RE	(-alogendors) Cels ~	Leveland Costs RES RF	(N) Cale we Are al Com	REART (\$)		
Bureau Gowley (12:00) Sale 10:1 10 (200)	Registered at	l Freedrag (REG FR) SubTable	final Stock RES FR	(*sum) Gils ~	Law bad Costs RES FR	(N) Cale Min Arnal Com	RESIDE (\$)		
Prove Decay Securited Invest Decay Bis of Decay B	Registers at	I Cooking (7ES Ck) SubTable	Tital Stock RES (0)	(bagas Ovara) 🛛 Cale 🗠	Lavelbed Costs RES CK	(Arnual Cont	RESICK (\$)		
Interaction Non-State RES N Non									
Every Course Course (Source Course Cours		appearing the	inen any learn	i si si					
Evered Cardy Status SEC 511 Selfex Area Stread Stre	Devard C	hange Vees are RES WII SubTable	Service Demand RDS WH	Is / Calc ~	Demand Charge Costs/RES WH	RI Cale H			
Derectors/training these theold Station Area Derect Table Station Area Derect Table Station Area Derect Table Station Derectors/training these theold Station Area Derect Table Station Area Derect Table Station Area Derect Table Station Derectors/training these theold Station Area Derect Table Station Area Derect Table Station Area Derect Table Station Derectors/training these theold Station Area Derect Table Station Area Derect Table Station Area Derect Table Station Derectors/training these theold Station Area Derect Table Station Area Derectors/table Station Area Derectors/table Station Area Derectors/table Station Derectors/training these the Station Station Area Derectors/table Station Area Derectors/table Station Area Derectors/table Station Correctors/training these the Station Area Derectors/table Station Area Derectors/table Station Area Derectors/table Station Correctors/training these the Station Area Derectors/table Station Area Derectors/table Station Area Derectors/table Station Correctors/training these the Station Area Derectors/table Station Area Derectors/table Station Area Derectors/table Station Correctors/treas Table Station Area	Devard C	harge Veenum RES SH SubTable	Service Demand RES SH	Is // Calc ~	Demand Charge Costs/RES 5H	RI Cale H			
Evered furge fur	Devend C	hinge Vessure RESICA SubTable	Service Demand RES CA	Is // Colc ~	Demand Change Costs/RES CA	RI Cale H			
Livered Currage Versus (Eds C) Stations Answer Statistics Answer Statistics Answer Statistics Answer Statistics Answer Statistics Statis	Devendo	tange Veasure RES RA Sebitable	Service Demand RES RA	IS // Colc ~	Demand Change Costs/RES RA	RI Cale H			
Long Course Standard States Previous States <th>Devando</th> <th>hange Vessure RES LT SubTable</th> <th>Service Demand RES LT</th> <th>pikkeerins Colc</th> <th>Demand Change Costs/RES LT</th> <th>SH_Calc_H</th> <th></th>	Devando	hange Vessure RES LT SubTable	Service Demand RES LT	pikkeerins Colc	Demand Change Costs/RES LT	SH_Calc_H			
Leverd Curry Vacuum (Ed. Curry (Ed. Curry (Ed. Curry (Ed. Curry Vacuum (Ed. Curry (Ed. Cur	Deve d C	hange Vessure RES CPI Sebilable	Service Demand RES CW	Equility Cole	Demand Change Costs/328 CW	SH_Calk_H			
Urran Charge Visuan (BS xV) 3 kt lines Annor Urmad (BS xV) Prived Urwad Charge Visual (BS V) Prived Visual (BS V) Prived Urwad	Dev and C	hange Vessure RES CD Sebilation	Service Demand RES CD	F-I Cole	Demand Charge Costs/(ES CD	SH_Cate_off			
Levend Charge Vinuase (ES: 0) 3 kk lines Levend Charge Vinuase (ES: 0) 4 kk cox Levend Charge Vinuase (ES: 0) 4 kk cox <th>Extrand C</th> <th>hange Versum RES DW Seb Table</th> <th>Service Demand RES DW</th> <th>Parks Cale</th> <th>Demand Charge Costs/IES DW</th> <th>SH_COX_HH</th> <th></th>	Extrand C	hange Versum RES DW Seb Table	Service Demand RES DW	Parks Cale	Demand Charge Costs/IES DW	SH_COX_HH			
Livrad Cargo Vinnari B5 7% Ballion Avec Janual B5 7% PVVI Gue Construct Cargo Vinnari B5 7% PVVI Gue PVVI Gue Construct Cargo Vinnari B5 7% PVVI Gue	Cenard C	hange Versum RESTO	Service Darmand ReS 184	(WV) Cule	Demand Charge Costs/(ES HI	SH_COX_000			
Intrastites X Tel Ute Pie Ute Overail Stage Onthree OX Aligned Testing Image: Stage Onthree OX Aligned Testing Aligned Testing Aligned Testing Image: Stage Onthree OX Aligned Testing Aligned Testing Aligned Testing Image: Stage Oxtract Oxtract Image: Stage Oxtract Oxtract Oxtract Aligned Testing Aligned Testing Image: Stage Oxtract Oxtract Oxtract Image: Stage Oxtract Oxtrat Oxtract Oxtract Oxtract Oxtrat Oxtract Oxtr	Denard C	hange Versum RES HK Seb Table	Service Darmand ReS Hit	(WVO Oute ~	Demand Charge Costs/(ES III-	SI CIR III			
Edit Table of Residential Building Shell (RES BS) Active Packages: RES I Reference Advise Packages: RES I Reference Input:RES BS Natural Replacement Type Technology Technology Replaced Measure Start Year Measure Saturation Year Measure End Year Measure 1 Natural Replacement Type Technology Technology Replaced Measure Start Year Measure Saturation Year Measure End Year Measure 1 Natural Replacement Type Technology Technology Replaced Measure Start Year Measure Saturation Year Measure 1 Natural Replacement Type Technology Technology Replaced Measure Start Year Measure 1 Natural Replacement Type Technology Technology Replaced Measure Saturation Year Measure 1 Natural Replacement Type Technology Technology Replaced Measure 2 Natural Replacement Type Reference 2 2014 2014 2014 2014 <th <="" colspan="2" th=""><th>Denaid C</th><th>Hunge Vewsure HES CR. Bob Table</th><th>Service Dynamid RES OR</th><th>17.0 Oale ~</th><th>Denand Charge Costs/IES CK</th><th>al cos in</th><th></th></th>	<th>Denaid C</th> <th>Hunge Vewsure HES CR. Bob Table</th> <th>Service Dynamid RES OR</th> <th>17.0 Oale ~</th> <th>Denand Charge Costs/IES CK</th> <th>al cos in</th> <th></th>		Denaid C	Hunge Vewsure HES CR. Bob Table	Service Dynamid RES OR	17.0 Oale ~	Denand Charge Costs/IES CK	al cos in	
Edit Table of Residential Building Shell (RES BS) Active Packages: RES Reference Active Packages: RES Imput:RES BS Active Packages: RES Imput:RES BS A Measure Index Imput:RES BS Replacement Type Technology Technology Replaced Measure Start Year Measure Saturation Year Measure End Year Measure 1 Natural Replacement Imput: Reference 2014 2014 2050 Imput: Reference Reference 2014 2014 2050 Imput: Refer									
Edit Table of Residential Building Shell (RES BS) Active Packages: RES Reference A Measure Index Input:RES BS Input:RES BS Input:RES BS Replacement Type Technology Reference 2014 Natural Replacement Reference Resure 1 Natural Replacement Reference 2014 Natural Replacement Reference Reference 2014 V 2050 Measure 2 Natural Replacement Reference 2014 V 2050 Measure 3 Natural Replacement Reference Reference 2014 2014 2014 2014 2014 2014 2014 2014 2014 2014 2014 2014 Resure 6 Natural Replacement Reference 2014 2014 2014 2050 Measure 6 Natural Replacement Reference 2014 2014 2014 201		== i	k →						
Active Packages: RES Reference S I A Measure Index Input:RES BS Input:RES BS Measure 1 Natural Replacement IECC 2000 Reference 2014 2014 2050 Measure End Year Measure 1 Natural Replacement IECC 2000 Reference 2014 2014 2050 Measure End Year Measure 2 Natural Replacement Reference Reference 2014 2014 2050 Measure 3 Measure 3 Natural Replacement Reference Reference 2014 2014 2050 Measure 4 Measure 4 Natural Replacement Reference Reference 2014 2014 2050 Measure 5 Measure 5 Natural Replacement Reference Reference 2014 2014 2050 Measure 6 Measure 6 Natural Replacement Reference Reference 2014 2014 2050 Measure 7 Measure 7 Natural Replacement Reference Reference 2014 2014 2050 Measure 8 Measure 8 Natural Replacement Referen	Edit T	able of Residential Building S	hell (RES BS)						
A Measure Index Input:RES BS Replacement Type Technology Technology Replaced Measure Start Year Measure Saturation Year Measure End Year Measure 1 Natural Replacement Type Technology Reference 2014 2014 2050 Technology Measure 2 Natural Replacement Type Reference Reference 2014 2014 2050 Technology Measure 3 Natural Replacement Type Reference Reference 2014 2014 2050 Technology Technology Reference 2014 2014 2050 Technology Technology Technology Reference 2014 2014 2050 Technology Technology Reference 2014 2014 20	Active F	Packages: RES 🕀 Refere	nce 🏳 🛱						
Input:RES BS Natural Replacement Type Technology Technology Replaced Measure Start Year Measure Saturation Year Measure End Year Measure 1 Natural Replacement V IECC 2000 Reference 2014 2014 2050 V Measure 2 Natural Replacement V Reference V Reference V 2014 2014 2050 V Measure 3 Natural Replacement V Reference V Reference V 2014 2014 2050 V Measure 4 Natural Replacement V Reference V Reference V 2014 2014 2050 V Measure 5 Natural Replacement V Reference V Reference V 2014 2014 2050 V Measure 6 Natural Replacement V Reference V Reference V 2014 2014 2050 V Measure 7 Natural Replacement V Reference V Reference V 2014 2014 2050 V Measure 8 Natural Replacement V Reference V Reference V 2014 2014 2050 V Measure 9 Natural Replacement V Referenc	AMe	asure Index 🔍 🔻							
Replacement TypeTechnologyTechnology ReplacedMeasure Start YearMeasure Saturation YearMeasure End YearMeasure 1Natural ReplacementIECC 2000Reference201420142050Measure 2Natural ReplacementReferenceReference201420142050Measure 3Natural ReplacementReferenceReference201420142050Measure 4Natural ReplacementReferenceReference201420142050Measure 5Natural ReplacementReferenceReference201420142050Measure 6Natural ReplacementReferenceReference201420142050Measure 7Natural ReplacementReferenceReference201420142050Measure 8Natural ReplacementReferenceReference201420142050Measure 9Natural ReplacementReferenceReference201420142050Measure 10Natural ReplacementReferenceReference201420142050		Input:RES BS 🔹 🔻]⊳						
Measure 1Natural ReplacementIECC 2000Reference201420142050TMeasure 2Natural ReplacementReferenceReference201420142050TMeasure 3Natural ReplacementReferenceReference201420142050TMeasure 4Natural ReplacementReferenceReference201420142050TMeasure 5Natural ReplacementReferenceReference201420142050TMeasure 6Natural ReplacementReferenceReference201420142050TMeasure 7Natural ReplacementReferenceReference201420142050TMeasure 8Natural ReplacementReferenceReference201420142050TMeasure 9Natural ReplacementReferenceReference201420142050TMeasure 9Natural ReplacementReferenceReference201420142050TMeasure 10Natural ReplacementReferenceReference201420142050T		Replacement Type	Technology	Technology Replaced	Measure Start Year	Measure Saturation Year	Measure End Year		
Measure 2Natural ReplacementReferenceReference201420142050Measure 3Natural ReplacementReferenceReference201420142050Measure 4Natural ReplacementReferenceReference201420142050Measure 5Natural ReplacementReferenceReference201420142050Measure 6Natural ReplacementReferenceReference201420142050Measure 7Natural ReplacementReferenceReference201420142050Measure 8Natural ReplacementReferenceReference201420142050Measure 9Natural ReplacementReferenceReference201420142050Measure 9Natural ReplacementReferenceReference201420142050Measure 9Natural ReplacementReferenceReference201420142050Measure 9Natural ReplacementReferenceReference201420142050Measure 10Natural ReplacementReferenceReference2014201420142050	Measure 1	Natural Replacement 🔻	IECC 2000 🔻	Reference 💌	2014 💌	2014 💌	2050 🔻		
Measure 3 Natural Replacement V Reference V Reference V 2014 V 2050 V Measure 4 Natural Replacement V Reference V Reference V 2014 V 2014 V 2050 V Measure 5 Natural Replacement V Reference V Reference V 2014 V 2014 V 2050 V Measure 6 Natural Replacement V Reference V Reference V 2014 V 2014 V 2050 V Measure 6 Natural Replacement V Reference V Reference V 2014 V 2014 V 2050 V Measure 7 Natural Replacement V Reference V Reference V 2014 V 2014 V 2050 V Measure 8 Natural Replacement V Reference V Reference V 2014 V 2014 V 2050 V Measure 9 Natural Replacement V Reference V Reference V 2014 V 2014 V 2050 V Measure 9 Natural Replacement V Reference V	Measure 2	Natural Replacement 🔻	Reference 🔻	Reference 💌	2014 💌	2014 💌	2050 🔻		
Measure 4 Natural Replacement V Reference V Reference V 2014 V 2014 V 2050 V Measure 5 Natural Replacement V Reference V Reference V 2014 V 2014 V 2050 V Measure 6 Natural Replacement V Reference V Reference V 2014 V 2014 V 2050 V Measure 6 Natural Replacement V Reference V Reference V 2014 V 2014 V 2050 V Measure 7 Natural Replacement V Reference V Reference V 2014 V 2014 V 2050 V Measure 8 Natural Replacement V Reference V Reference V 2014 V 2014 V 2050 V Measure 9 Natural Replacement V Reference V Reference V 2014 V 2014 V 2050 V Measure 10 Natural Replacement V Reference V Reference V 2014 V 2014 V 2050 V	Measure 3	Natural Replacement 🔻	Reference 🔻	Reference 💌	2014 🔻	2014 💌	2050 🔻		
Measure 5 Natural Replacement ▼ Reference ▼ 2014 ▼ 2014 ▼ 2050 ▼ Measure 6 Natural Replacement ▼ Reference ▼ Reference ▼ 2014 ▼ 2014 ▼ 2050 ▼ Measure 7 Natural Replacement ▼ Reference ▼ Reference ▼ 2014 ▼ 2014 ▼ 2050 ▼ Measure 8 Natural Replacement ▼ Reference ▼ Reference ▼ 2014 ▼ 2014 ▼ 2050 ▼ Measure 9 Natural Replacement ▼ Reference ▼ Reference ▼ 2014 ▼ 2014 ▼ 2050 ▼ Measure 9 Natural Replacement ▼ Reference ▼ Reference ▼ 2014 ▼ 2014 ▼ 2050 ▼ Measure 10 Natural Replacement ▼ Reference ▼ Reference ▼ 2014 ▼ 2014 ▼ 2050 ▼	Measure 4	Natural Replacement 🔻	Reference 🔻	Reference 💌	2014 🔻	2014 🔻	2050 🔻		
Measure 6 Natural Replacement ▼ Reference ▼ 2014 ▼ 2014 ▼ 2050 ▼ Measure 7 Natural Replacement ▼ Reference ▼ Reference ▼ 2014 ▼ 2014 ▼ 2050 ▼ Measure 8 Natural Replacement ▼ Reference ▼ Reference ▼ 2014 ▼ 2014 ▼ 2050 ▼ Measure 9 Natural Replacement ▼ Reference ▼ Reference ▼ 2014 ▼ 2014 ▼ 2050 ▼ Measure 9 Natural Replacement ▼ Reference ▼ Reference ▼ 2014 ▼ 2014 ▼ 2050 ▼ Measure 10 Natural Replacement ▼ Reference ▼ Reference ▼ 2014 ▼ 2014 ▼ 2050 ▼	Measure 5	Natural Replacement 🔻	Reference 🔻	Reference 💌	2014 🔻	2014 🔻	2050 🔻		
Measure 7 Natural Replacement V Reference V Reference V 2014 2014 2050 V Measure 8 Natural Replacement V Reference V Reference V 2014 2014 2050 V Measure 9 Natural Replacement V Reference V Reference V 2014 2014 2050 V Measure 9 Natural Replacement V Reference V Reference V 2014 2014 2050 V Measure 10 Natural Replacement V Reference V Reference V 2014 2014 2050 V	Measure 6	Natural Replacement 🔻	Reference 🔻	Reference 💌	2014 💌	2014 🔻	2050 🔻		
Measure 8 Natural Replacement Reference Reference 2014 2014 2050 Measure 9 Natural Replacement Reference Reference 2014 2014 2050 Measure 10 Natural Replacement Reference Reference 2014 2014 2050	Measure 7	Natural Replacement 🔻	Reference V	Reference 💌	2014 🔻	2014 🔻	2050 -		
Measure 9 Natural Replacement Reference Reference 2014 2014 2050 Measure 10 Natural Replacement Reference Reference 2014 2014 2050	Measure 8	Natural Replacement -	Reference -	Reference -	2014 -	2014 -	2050 -		
Measure 10 Natural Replacement V Reference V Reference V 2014 V 2014	Measure 9	Natural Replacement -		Reference -	2014 -	2014 -	2050 -		
	Measure 10	Natural Replacement V	Reference V	Reference -	2014 -	2014	2050		

Clicking the Diagram window (**blue** arrow above) button then displays the influence diagram for the selected input. An example is shown below for Residential Building Shell.



Alternatively, clicking "All Res Inputs" on the first subtable screen above (red arrow) brings up the screen below, from which the user may then double click a desired list or table of Residential data.

End Use	Test. Indices	66	Cest	Stock Change Measure Inputs		Domand Change Meas
Housing stock	Techs RES HE List			Stock Rollover Measure.REB HS	SubTable	
Building shell	Toutou RESIES Lint	1 Edit Table) Edit Table	Residential Building Shall (RES 83)	SubTable	
Water Heating	Tudra RES WH Line	1 Edit. Tuble	9 Edit Table	Residentia Water Heating (RES WH)	SubTable	Derroad Change Mason
Space Heating	Tedas RES SH Line	(Eds. Tuble)	() Edit Tuble	Residentia Space Heating (RES SH)	SubTuble	Exmand Change Mean
Central Air Conditioning	Techa RES CA Line	9 Eda Table	() Edit Tuble	Readential Control AC(RES(CA)	SubTuble	Denarid Orange Near
Room An Concilioning	ladic(45.8A List	1 Edit Table	10 Felt Table	Readential Room AC (RES RA)	SubTuble	Demand Charge Mean
Liphone	lache(dr)(1)	1 Edit table	1) Pete Table	Readered Lighting (RPS11)	Sub lable	Genard Change Mean
Clothes Waters	Inche Martin 1 Mar	Pate table	1) Pete Johia	Rouldania Clothes Washing (RES.	Schlable	Demand Change Mean
CotherDayer	Inchefet S (1) - 1 let	I File Table	0 Fille Sable	Residented Circles Drying (RES CC)	Schlable	Demand Change Mean
Dub Wasser	Techs RES DW 1 M	U Edit Table	1 Inte Table	Residents Distanting (RDS DW)	SubTable	Comand Change Nezro
Ratigatator	Tochs RES RF	1 Edit Table	10 Edit Table	Residential Refrigeration (RES RF)	SubTable	Demand Change Measu
Freezor	Techs RES FR	I Edit Table	I Edit Table	Residentia Treezing (RES TR)	SubTable	Domand Change Measu
Cooking	Techs RES CK List	1 Edit Table	0 Edit Table	Residentia Cooking (RES CK)	SubTable	Demand Change Measu
Otati						Demand Change Measu

- **2.** Case Selection: Choose which cases to run (Active Cases). See section 3.3 of this guide for more information.
- 3. Model Details: Brings up the main diagram window for the model. The user may then double click to display sectoral and sub-sectoral diagrams. Subsectoral diagrams (e.g. Model Details → Sectoral Demand → Transportation, Communication, and Utilities, or Model Details → Energy Supply → Fossil Energy) displays influence diagrams.¹ Clicking on variables within influence diagrams displays information about the variable. The variable can also be represented as a table or graph, see 3.4.

An example of this process is shown below for the Power to Gas (P2G) influence diagram. Double Clicking the buttons highlighted with the black arrows allows the user to access the P2G influence diagram. Clicking other buttons allows access of other influence diagrams.

¹ For more on the shapes (variables) and functionalities of influence diagrams, see the Analytica tutorial on using influence diagrams, https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=dSzvuMGJTlk

PATHWAYS CA 2.3 ► Model Details ►



```
PATHWAYS CA 2.3 ► Model Details ► Energy Supply ►
```





Once at the influence diagram level, double clicking on any variable allows the user to see how that variable is defined.

- **4. Packages:** Packages define the set of input assumptions associated with each sector. Combinations of different packages are used to create economy-wide scenarios. This section of the model on package naming and selection is to create user-defined cases (see Section 4).
- 5. Outputs: Clicking "Calc" will run selected cases (see 3.3 on Selecting Cases). See Evaluating Results (3.4) for more information.
- 6. Export Flat Output Files: Exports categories of pre-defined results into flat files that can be viewed and manipulated in Excel. Requires professional or higher version of Analytica.

3.3 Selecting Cases

CA PATHWAYS contains three predefined cases: Reference (business as usual with pre-SB 350 mitigation policies); Scoping Plan (Proposed mitigation scenario with cap-and-trade); and Alternative 1 (no cap-and-trade mitigation scenario). See the January 2017 ARB Proposed Scoping Plan for more information about these scenarios. The model provides the option for creating additional user-defined cases (see Section 4). Cases are accessed by clicking on the "Edit Table" button next to "Select Cases for Analysis," toward the top left of the opening model interface screen.

Case Selection	
Name Cases	Edit Table
Select Cases for Analysis	Edit Table
Sensitivity Setting	Base 🗸

Analytica will then bring up the case selection screen, where the user can check boxes for the cases they wish to run – these will become the Active Cases. After checking the desired boxes, the user may return to the main screen of the model to run the selected cases by exiting this screen using the "x" in the upper right corner of the dialogue box. It is not advisable to run more than one case simultaneously with a computer meeting the minimum system requirements.

🕡 Edit Table - Select Cases for Analysis	
Edit Table of Select Cases for Analysis	
Baseline Reference Scoping Plan Alternative 1 Case 5 Case 6 Case 7 Case 8 Case 9 Case 10 Case 11 Case 13 Case 14 Case 16	

3.4 Evaluating Results

3.4.1 Calculating Results

The model is run by clicking any of the green "Calc" buttons on the screen associated with every computed variable. Clicking "Calc" once will run the model through to the point in the model at which the result is available. Allow 20-30 minutes for the model to run 1 complete case for the first time, for example by clicking on "calc" for final CA wide GHG emissions. Subsequent calculations will generally require less evaluation time since the model will not need to recalculate all modules.

Model calculations can be stopped at any time by clicking the red "x" in the top dialogue box, shown below. The red X button appears once the user starts running the model.



To check memory usage and to ensure that the model is still calculating, click on "window" \rightarrow "show memory usage" to view your computer's computational statistics.

3.4.2 Results Tables

After the model has finished calculating, the "Calc" button will change to a "Result" button. By double clicking on results, a data table or chart of results will be displayed. If a chart is displayed, the data table can be viewed by clicking on the table icon, shown by the **red** box and **red** arrow below.

Mid Value of 1	Mid Value of Total Greenhouse Gas Emissions (tCO2e/yr)							
Geography:Ener	rgy 🖓 «Tota	als» ଯ∫						
LE Active Cases	🖓 Refe	rence	ខា					
End Use Sect	ors 🔻 🔳 T	otals						
\bigtriangledown	Output Year	. ↓ P	📃 Totals					
	2010	2011	2012	2013	2014	2015		
Residential	NAN	NAN	NAN	NAN	NAN	61.43M		
Commercial	NAN	NAN	NAN	NAN	NAN	51.74M		
Transportation	NAN	NAN	NAN	NAN	NAN	180.6M		
Industrial	NAN	NAN	NAN	NAN	NAN	29.69M		
Oil & Gas Extraction	NAN	NAN	NAN	NAN	NAN	15.08M		
Petroleum Refining	NAN	NAN	NAN	NAN	NAN	43.93M		
Agriculture	NAN	NAN	NAN	NAN	NAN	35.5M		
TCU	NAN	NAN	NAN	NAN	NAN	20.08M		
Unspecified	NAN	NAN	NAN	NAN	NAN	0		

Different table axes are displayed by using the drop down lists on the buttons enclosed in **black** boxes and arrow above. The user may then toggle through what to display on the axes by toggling through the boxes enclosed in **blue** boxes and arrow above (e.g. "Active Cases" will give options to look at any cases that have been run). This allows the user to choose what to display in the table.

3.4.3 Results Graphs

After clicking into case results, a graph of the result can be displayed by clicking on the graph button, shown below with the red box and arrow. As was the case for tables, the black box and arrow below shows where drop-down menus allow the user to choose what will define the x-axis and key labeling for the graph. The blue box and arrow then determine what data will be displayed on the graph, e.g. from which case (Reference, Scoping Plan, or Alternative 1) data will be displayed.



An example graph for GHG emissions by output year for the Reference case is displayed below.



4. User-Defined Cases

4.1 Naming a User-Defined Case

To create a new case, first give your case a new name. The user should begin by clicking "Edit Table" next to the "Name Cases" label on the main user interface.

Case Selection	
Name Cases	Edit Table
Select Cases for Analysis	Edit Table
Sensitivity Setting	Base 🗸

This will bring up the table of pre-defined and available case names. Any unnamed cases are available to be named by the user. Existing cases can also be re-named if desired. An example is shown below.

🕡 Edit Tal	ole - Name Cases	
Ca	t Table of Name Cases ses Numbers 💌	
Case 1	'Baseline'	
Case 2	'Reference'	
Case 3	'Scoping Plan'	
Case 4	'Alternative 1'	
Case 5	example new case name here	
Case 6	Ó	
Case 7	0	
Case 8	0	
Case 9	0	
Case 10	0	

Double clicking in these boxes allows the user to edit the name of the case. New cases will have arbitrary packages assigned by default. The user must change this assignment by creating new packages or selecting different packages (see 4.2 and 4.3).

4.2 Selecting Packages

Once the user has selected their newly named case for analysis, the packages associated with that case must be changed from the default by double clicking the "Subtable" label next to Packages Selection.



The user may then select which package to associate with each sector (Residential, Commercial, Transportation, Industrial, Oil & Gas Extraction, Petroleum Refining, Agriculture, TCU, Non-Energy, Hydrogen, Pipeline Gas, Biomass, Electricity) using drop-down menus. This functionality allows the user to combine packages in ways that are not covered by pre-defined cases.

Below is an example of packages associated with scenarios (Case names listed across top row, Sectors in far left column).

🕡 Edit Table - Packa	ages Selection								
Edit Table of F	Edit Table of Packages Selection Package Key ▼								
V									
	Reference	Scoping Plan	Alternative 1		example new case name her				
Residential	Reference 🔻	Scoping Plan A	ARB SPA Plus	•	Scoping Plan A				
Commercial	Reference 🔻	Scoping Plan A	ARB SPA Plus	•	Scoping Plan A				
Transportation	Reference 🔻	Scoping Plan A	ARB SPA Plus	•	Scoping Plan A				
Industrial	Reference 🔻	Straight Line - No fuel switching - Mod - 2016 Start	ARB SPA Plus	•	Straight Line - No fuel sw				
Oil & Gas Extraction	Reference 🔻	Scoping Plan A	ARB SPA Plus	•	Scoping Plan A				
Petroleum Refining	Reference 🔻	Straight Line	SP+	•	Sustained Refining Secto				
Agriculture	Reference 🔻	Scoping Plan A	SP+	•	Scoping Plan A				
TCU	Reference 🔻	Scoping Plan A	Scoping Plan A	•	Scoping Plan A				
Non-Energy	Baseline 🔻	Scoping Plan	Scoping Plan	•	Scoping Plan				
Hydrogen	Baseline 🔻	Straight Line	Straight Line	•	Straight Line				
Pipeline Gas	Zero 🔻	Zero	ARB SPA Plus	•	Zero				
Biomass	Reference 🔻	Straight Line	SPA: Aggressive Biofu	els 🔻	Straight Line				
Electricity	Reference 🔻	Straight Line - IEPR High PV	All-In	•	SL - IEPR High PV, Min G				
Liebbioty	Reference •	Straight Line - IEPK High PV	All-In	•	SL - IEPK High PV, Min G				

4.3 Creating New Packages

To begin the process of creating a new package, click the "Name Packages" button shown below on the opening CA PATHWAYS screen.



The user may then select which sector they would like to create a new package for. The **black** arrow below on the Main Package Screen points to the Residential Sector packages as an example.

PATHWAYS CA 2.3 ► Name Packages ►						
	Name Packa	ges				
	Packages:RES	List				
	Packages:COM	List				
	Packages:IND	List				
	Packages:AGR	List				
	Packages:OGE	List				
	Packages:REF	List				
	Packages:TCU	List				
	Packages:TRA	List				
	Packages:ELC	List				
	Packages:BIO	List				
	Packages:HYD	List				
	Packages:GAS	List				
	Packages:NON	List				

Copy Packages	
Package Copying Input Edit Table	
Copy Package 🗧	

The user may then name their new package by retitling any of packages not associated with the predefined cases.

Description:			
Definition:	Baseline		
	New Residential Package		
	Not Defined		
	Reference		
	Not Defined		
	Straight Line		
	Early Adoption		
	Smart Growth		
	Low Carbon Gas		
	Delayed Adoption		
	Straight Line - No heat pumps		
	Not Defined		
Domain:	Automatic 🔍		

-

Next, the user can copy over data from one of the pre-existing packages to this new package by clicking "Package copying input: edit table" where the **blue** arrow is shown two figures above on the Main Package Screen. Then, on the screen displayed below, the user (1) chooses which package to copy from to their new package, (2) checks the box, and (3) hits the green check mark. It is very important that the user ensure they **DO NOT** choose to copy from one pre-existing package over another, as that **WILL** change the contents of the other package, leaving it mislabeled. Please ensure you have checked only the boxes to copy over your newly created package. Note: the package copying tool is not currently implemented for biomass packages, and attempts to copy / edit biomass packages may result in errors or incorrect results.

Edit Table of F	ackage Copyin	g Input			
Package Key	•				
	Copy From, Paste Over 🕶 🗅				
	Make Copy?	Copy From	Paste Over		
Residential	2 🗹	Straight Line 🔹 🔻	New Residential Package 🔻		
Commercial		Straight Line 🛛 🔻	Not Defined 💌		
Transportation		Low Carbon Gas 🔻	Not Defined 🔻		
Industrial		Straight Line 🔍	Not Defined 🔻		
Oil & Gas Extraction		Straight Line 🔍 🔻	Not Defined 💌		
Petroleum Refining		Not Defined 🔍	Not Defined 🗸 🗸		
Agriculture		Not Defined 🔍	Not Defined 🗾 👻		
TCU		Not Defined 🔍	Not Defined 🔻		
Non-Energy		Straight Line 🔍 🔻	Not Defined 🗸 🗸		
Hydrogen		Straight Line 🔍 🔻	Not Defined 🔻		
Pipeline Gas		Straight Line 🛛 🔻	Not Defined 🔹		
Biomass		Baseline 💌	Not Defined 🔹		
Electricity		High BEV 🛛 🔻	Not Defined 🔹		

The user can then finish the new package copying process by clicking "Copy New Package" on the Main Package Screen, as pointed to three figures above by the **red** arrow.

The user may now edit this new package by changing any of its underlying measures, equations, etc. For example, for the "New Residential Package" created above, the user may select this case as one to be evaluated (see Section 3.3), then change e.g. measures associated with that package by entering one of the associated sectoral tables, as shown below. The user should ensure they change the correct package by toggling to the name of their newly created package on the "Active Packages" list in the red box below. By selecting any of the drop down menus (example pointed to by black arrow), the user can then change the package's measures.

Edit Table of Residential Building Shell (BES BS) Active Packages: EES New Residential Package Altesaure Index Imput:RES BS									
	Replacement Type	Technology	Technology Replaced	asure Start Year	Measure Saturation Year	Measure End Year	Early Replacement: Annual Ratio of Selected Vintage(s) Stock Replaced	Early Replacement:Vintage(s) Replaced; Before-	New
Measure 1	Natural Replacement 🔻	IECC 2000 🔻	Reference	2014 🔻	2014 🔻	2050 🔻	•	1950 🔻	1
Measure 2	Natural Replacement 🔻	IECC 2000 🔻	IECC 2000 🔻	2014 🔻	2014 💌	2050 🔻	•	1950	/
Measure 3	Natural Replacement 🔻	IECC 2000 🔻	IECC 2000 🔻	2014 🔻	2014 🔻	2050 🔻	· (1950	1
Measure 4	Natural Replacement 🔻	IECC 2000 🔻	IECC 2000 🔻	2014 🔻	2014 🔻	2050 🔻	· (1950 🗸	1
Measure 5	Natural Replacement 🔻	IECC 2000 🔻	IECC 2000 🔻	2014 🔻	2014 🔻	2050 🔻		1950 💌	·]
Measure 6	Natural Replacement 🔻	IECC 2000 🔻	IECC 2000 🔻	2014 🔻	2014 💌	2050 🔻		1950	-l
Measure 7	Natural Replacement 🔻	IECC 2000 🔻	IECC 2000 🔻	2014 🔻	2014 💌	2050 🔻		1950 💌	1
Measure 8	Natural Replacement 🔻	IECC 2000 🔻	IECC 2000 🔻	2014 🔻	2014 🔻	2050 🔻	-	1950 🗸	1
Measure 9	Natural Replacement 🔻	IECC 2000 🔻	IECC 2000 🔻	2014 🔻	2014 🔻	2050 🔻		1950	·]
Measure 10	Natural Replacement 🔻	IECC 2000 🔻	IECC 2000 🔻	2014 🔻	2014 🔻	2050 🔻	-	1950 🗸	-]

Finally, the user can associate this package with a scenario by creating a new scenario (see 4.1) and selecting this package as one of the packages associated with that scenario (see 4.2).

4.4 Evaluating Results

Results of a user-defined case are obtained and evaluated in the same way as results of a predefined case. See section 3.3-3.5.